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PN1  

JUSTICE ROSS:  This morning's mention just deals with the retail tranche of the 
proceedings.  Can I have the appearances please, firstly in Sydney. 

PN2  
MR MOORE:  Yes, Your Honour.  Moore, for the SDA.  Ms Burnley is appearing 
with me for the mention. 

PN3  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Mr Moore. 

PN4  
COUNSEL:  May it please Your Honour I appear for the AI Group, for the fast 
food representative. 

PN5  
MS WELLARD:  If the Commission pleases, Wellard, initial S, for the Pharmacy 
Guild of Australia. 

PN6  
MR PARKES:  If the Commission pleases, Parkes, initial G, on behalf of the 
Restaurant and Catering Industrial. 

PN7  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Mr Parkes.  And in Melbourne? 

PN8  
MR WHEELAHAN:  If the Commission pleases, Wheelahan, initial P.  I seek 
permission to appear on behalf of the Australian Retailers Association, National 
Retailers Association, and the Master Grocers Association. 

PN9  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I think we've dealt with all the Commission applications 
previously.  Is there anyone else that is appearing in this matter? 

PN10  
MR IZZO:  Yes, Your Honour.  Izzo, initial L, appearing on behalf of ABI and 
New South Wales Business Chamber. 

PN11  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Thanks, Mr Izzo.  Let me just go through the things that I 
wanted to raise with you.  The SDA has identified or has filed some 
correspondence in relation to this matter.  They propose dealing with the 
witnesses in three tranches, pharmacy then retail then fast food.  I mean, on the 
face of it that seems sensible, whether it's that order or not, but what do the 
relevant employer organisations say about that? 

PN12  
MR IZZO:  We have no objection to that course, thank you, Your Honour. 

PN13  



MS WELLARD:  Your Honour, we have tried to find out the availability of the 27 
pharmacy witnesses and to the extent possible we have blocked them in entire 
days but they don't necessarily all fall within the first group of days in the first 
week.  So we've blocked out for example the 12th and the 13th, which are the first 
two days. 

PN14  
I also made an assumption that it would be easier to deal with witnesses in person 
rather than on the video link, so to the extent that there could be the Melbourne 
witnesses dealt with in Melbourne and the Sydney witnesses dealt with in Sydney, 
we try that. 

PN15  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes.  No, I wouldn't worry too much about that. 

PN16  
MS WELLARD:  I am not too worried about that, Your Honour. 

PN17  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I think the advantage of dealing with them in tranches is it 
minimises costs.  The relevant employer organisation, if they wish, can stay for 
the whole lot but need only be there for their witnesses rather than being in and 
out. 

PN18  
MS WELLARD:  Yes, Your Honour, absolutely.  Notwithstanding that, even if I 
try and move some of them forward there are some witnesses that have particular 
narrow windows of availability, primarily because in pharmacy they need to 
organise a locum pharmacist.  So there will be some that need to trail into the 
second and third week, even if we are in that first tranche. 

PN19  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right.  Perhaps if you can forward to me the availability 
issues that your witnesses have and I'll come up with a draft.  Okay.  Yes, Mr 
Moore? 

PN20  
MR MOORE:  Your Honour, our interest is only in relation to the Fast Food 
Industry Award and we have no objection to the award by award tranche 
approach. 

PN21  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay.  Mr Izzo? 

PN22  
MR IZZO:  No objection to that approach, Your Honour. 

PN23  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay.  Mr Wheelahan? 

PN24  
MR WHEELAHAN:  No objection. 



PN25  
SPEAKER:  I didn't put a qualification in and I wonder if we could have the same 
qualification in case there are witnesses who are absolutely not available that 
might have to be across - - - 

PN26  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I think the easiest way is I'll do a draft and then you can tell me 
about availability. 

PN27  
SPEAKER:  If Your Honour please. 

PN28  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Because otherwise we won't settle this prior to the three weeks 
starting.  So I'll come up with a draft.  MR Wheelahan, have you got any objection 
to the tranche approach? 

PN29  
MR WHEELAHAN:  No objection, Your Honour. 

PN30  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right.  Perhaps I'll come up with a draft and I'll have a 
timeline about when you can let me know about availability problems and we'll 
deal with it that way.  All right.  Can I ask the SDA, is it intended that in this 
tranche approach that the union witnesses would follow the employer witnesses in 
each tranche?  That would seem to make sense as well. 

PN31  
MR MOORE:  Excuse me, Your Honour.  I don't think that was envisaged. 

PN32  
JUSTICE ROSS:  What would be the problem with that? 

PN33  
MR MOORE:  I don't see necessarily there being a problem with that, Your 
Honour. 

PN34  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I'm  just thinking that then the employer parties with an interest 
in that group can deal with that group as a bunch rather than sort of come back 
interspersed dealing with your witnesses. 

PN35  
MR MOORE:  It perhaps depends where the witnesses, if they come from across 
the fields or whether or not they're confined to - - - 

PN36  
JUSTICE ROSS:  True.  Look, I'll try and accommodate that but I think we'll be 
sitting in either Melbourne or Sydney and inevitably there will be some video 
links and we'll probably be sitting a week at a time in each location. 

PN37  



MR MOORE:  The only other matter to note there, Your Honour, of course is that 
the due date for the filing of the union lay evidence is the 5th. 

PN38  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes, I know.  How many witnesses are you intending to call? 

PN39  
MR MOORE:  That is still under consideration. 

PN40  
JUSTICE ROSS:  What is your estimate at the moment? 

PN41  
MR MOORE:  Around 10. 

PN42  
JUSTICE ROSS:  In each area or across the board? 

PN43  
MR MOORE:  In total. 

PN44  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay. 

PN45  
MR MOORE:  But, Your Honour, that is a rubbery number. 

PN46  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No, no.  I just need to get an order of magnitude.  If it was 200, 
then I'd be thinking - - - 

PN47  
MR MOORE:  Yes, I understand, Your Honour. 

PN48  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I'd be giving some though to reconstituting the Bench for a 
start.  Professor Altman, in your correspondence you indicate, because of his 
limited availability, you want to put him in this tranche? 

PN49  
MR MOORE:  Yes. 

PN50  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Does anyone have any objection to that?  I'm  not asking you to 
object to his evidence.  I'm  asking about the timing?  No?  Nobody seems to have 
a problem.  Do you have an idea about what is availability is?  He's based at the 
ANU, isn't he? 

PN51  
MR MOORE:  No, he's in Newcastle. 

PN52  



JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay. 

PN53  
MR MOORE:  It's in the covering - no, it's not.  We'll confirm it with Your 
Honour's Chambers if you like but it's 28 and 29 October I believe that he is 
available. 

PN54  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right. 

PN55  
MR MOORE:  Can I raise one other matter to do with the list, a small matter, 
Your Honour? 

PN56  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN57  
MR MOORE:  There has been an omission from the list.  Ms Toff from the AIG 
is not on the list and she ought be on the list.  The reason she was omitted I think 
is that an affidavit that she made was filed with the expert evidence I believe but I 
think it's common ground between us and the AIG that she is giving evidence.  It 
is lay evidence that she is giving. 

PN58  
JUSTICE ROSS:  That's fine.  Do you have an estimate of cross-examination for 
Ms Toff?  Ms Toff is the AI Group economist, isn't she? 

PN59  
SPEAKER:  No, no.  She is the person who analysed by drawing from the ABS 
data - - - 

PN60  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes.  But it is the same Ms Toff who is their economist who 
appears in the Annual Wage Review. 

PN61  
SPEAKER:  Yes, that's correct.  I'm  sorry, Your Honour, I misunderstood Your 
Honour. 

PN62  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No, no, that's all right. 

PN63  
SPEAKER:  That's correct. 

PN64  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Any estimate? 

PN65  
MR MOORE:  I think the likelihood is that she won't be required for cross-
examination. 



PN66  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes.  Do the employers have an estimate of how long they're 
likely to require Professor Altman for cross-examination?  If no is the answer, 
then no is the answer. 

PN67  
MR IZZO:  Your Honour, if I can just - in relation to that question.  Employer 
groups are, in light of your recommendations previously, continuing to discuss 
those types of arrangements about timing.  I think we now know who is required 
for cross-examination but the goal was to have a better idea about timings by the 
end of next week, for the directions hearing next Friday. 

PN68  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes.  Well, I'd also encourage you to continue to have 
discussions with the SDA representatives and see if we can sort out any issues 
before we get to the hearing of the evidence.  SDA has made objections in relation 
to Logan and Crothers.  How late were they filed? 

PN69  
MR MOORE:  Three weeks. 

PN70  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Can I tell you I'd be minded to let them in.  It's just a question 
of how to deal with any prejudice.  On the face of it, I'm struggling to see the 
prejudice because I've looked at their witness statements.  It's in broadly similar 
terms to the other pharmacists that have put in statements.  If the cross-
examination that we've just had in hospitality is anything to go by, there is a 
pattern to it and the same sort of questions are asked of each witness.  Now, if you 
feel that you need more time, we can put those witnesses on later in the 
proceedings and I can deal with any prejudice that way.  But looking at their 
statements, these aren't of a different character to the other witnesses. 

PN71  
MR MOORE:  Your Honour, I can't resist that.  I think that's a reasonable course, 
if I might say so.  If they could be listed late in the hearings, I think that that 
should ameliorate the prejudice. 

PN72  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right.  I will put them late in the program for that tranche 
and if that creates any problems you'll be able to comment on it and if they need 
to go later than that, then we'll deal with it later. 

PN73  
MR MOORE:  Yes.  I just have a concern that we don't want to see any more 
coming in. 

PN74  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No, no.  I appreciate that and I am not - there will be a limit to 
the patience that I am exercising on late filings. 

PN75  



MR MOORE:  Yes. 

PN76  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Certainly my Chambers would appreciate it if we can stop the 
flurry of activity after 6 o'clock, or early in the morning before a hearing, because 
it puts other parties at a disadvantage as well.  Now, each of you have been guilty 
of that at one point or another and if there is to be any late filing, you should seek 
leave.  So from here on in, if something slips outside, you need to seek leave and 
we'll hear then about issues of prejudice rather than filing assuming everything 
will be rosy.  In this particular case, I am untroubled because of the nature of the 
evidence and the pattern into which it falls but that won't be the case always.  Is 
there anything else?  Look, usefully what I thought I would do now is look at the 
material having regard to your comments, come up with a draft program, circulate 
that, and I will then encourage you to discuss that amongst yourselves and seek to 
resolve any issues between yourselves.  I appreciate that not all of the estimates 
are in and that we don't know yet precisely how many SDA witnesses there will 
be, so some of that will be indicative, but it will be a sort of working document 
that we'll proceed with over the course of the next couple of weeks. 

PN77  
MR MOORE:  Your Honour? 

PN78  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes, Mr Moore. 

PN79  
MR MOORE:  Can I raise one other matter, or two other matters concerning - 
perhaps confusing the situation, in relation to the witnesses numbered one and 
two, Ms Baxter and Mr Pratley, on the list.  I know that this is an issue on the 
agenda for later this morning - - - 

PN80  
JUSTICE ROSS:  It is. 

PN81  
MR MOORE:  - - - but if I deal with it now it might just head the whole matter 
off, I'm hopeful. 

PN82  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Anything that would encourage that, Mr Moore.  Go for your 
life. 

PN83  
MR MOORE:  That's why I thought I'd get to my feet, Your Honour.  The 
situation with Ms Baxter, there's been some confusion there and it arose because 
in the findings documents filed, her evidence is apparently relied on as expert 
evidence, but it was filed at the time of the lay evidence which is the 10th of 
August. 

PN84  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 



PN85  
MR MOORE:  Your Honour might recall that in the directions earlier in the year, 
as I understand it, it was at least understood but I think expressed that survey 
evidence would be filed at the same time as the lay evidence. 

PN86  
JUSTICE ROSS:  I think that's right. 

PN87  
MR MOORE:  And would be heard in the lay evidence. 

PN88  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Which is what we did with the hospitality tranche. 

PN89  
MR MOORE:  As I understand that's right. 

PN90  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN91  
MR MOORE:  So Ms Baxter's affidavit or statement was filed in accordance with 
that arrangement. 

PN92  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN93  
MR MOORE:  And the confusion I think arose because she was described as an 
expert in the findings document, but to cut to the chase, as it were, on the basis - 
we don't have any difficulty with Ms Baxter her witness statement being received, 
subject to any objections that might be taken to it, in the lay evidence, and be 
treated in that way.  She's a solicitor, she deposes to some surveys that were 
undertaken. 

PN94  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN95  
MR MOORE:  If it's dealt with in that way - Ms Baxter is dealt with in the retail 
lay hearings - we don't have any difficulty. 

PN96  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right, so we can leave her off the list when we get to it at 
9.30? 

PN97  
MR MOORE:  That's right. 

PN98  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay.  Can I make an observation about Ms Baxter's evidence 
for the benefit of Mr Izzo, that during the hospitality proceedings we drew to the 



attention - and each of you will have the transcript – we drew to the attention of 
the parties some extracts from annual wage review decisions, and on reviewing 
Ms Baxter's affidavit I would have some questions about the representativeness of 
the survey, in that what's been put here, we have the response rate but I don't think 
we've got how many was it sent to, and is it said that – or do you intend to argue 
that the survey's representative of the membership of the employer organisations 
concerned?  If you do then we're going to need some more detail.  So have a look 
at that and rather than – I'll ask the question of the witness when the witness is in 
the box, so we may as well get a supplementary that deals with those questions 
and then the SDA will have the material as well.  All right?  Because all it tells me 
at the moment, from memory, and I've only just looked at it briefly, but it told me 
the number responding but I don't recall it telling me how many it went to. 

PN99  
MR MOORE:  I think that's right, your Honour. 

PN100  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay, so what I don't want to happen is, in submissions, for you 
to advance a submission that this survey is representative of the membership of 
the relevant employer organisations and there's no way of testing that proposition.  
I would ask the witness these questions anyway, as I did with – was it Carlita 
Warren, or one of the witnesses on Monday I think, from memory, in the 
hospitality matter - but I'm putting you on notice and perhaps a short 
supplementary dealing with that issue, and then we'll see what questions are 
asked. 

PN101  
MR MOORE:  We'll take that on notice, your Honour, and come back. 

PN102  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right. 

PN103  
MR MOORE:  And your Honour, if I could just clarify that there was never any 
intentions in blowing Ms Baxter as an expert. 

PN104  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No. 

PN105  
MR MOORE:  She's only in the findings document because I think there were 
orders to also advance the findings upon which you said to rely on in relation to 
any survey that's - - - 

PN106  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes - no, that's fine; I don't think we need to re-visit how it 
came about.  Did you have something on the Pratley - - - 

PN107  
MR MOORE:  Yes, with Dr Pratley the situation is somewhat similar.  Dr Pratley 
though would appear to be an expert. 



PN108  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN109  
MR MOORE:  The other difference is that it was filed on about the 4th of 
September, I believe, some 3 or 4 weeks after the lay evidence due date, catching 
the survey evidence due date, if you like, your Honour. 

PN110  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Mm. 

PN111  
MR MOORE:  So there is some prejudice there because Dr Pratley does appear to 
be an expert. 

PN112  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN113  
MR MOORE:  We need an opportunity to properly consider that. 

PN114  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN115  
MR MOORE:  So the position I'd propose with Dr Pratley is that his evidence be 
scheduled again in the lay phase, notwithstanding he is technically an expert but 
he's giving survey evidence in relation to a survey or surveys which are also 
address by other witnesses - - - 

PN116  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes, he is. 

PN117  
MR MOORE:  - - - but that the SDA have further time to file for a commensurate 
period of time, an additional 3 weeks beyond the 5th of October, to file any 
responsive material in relation to Dr Pratley. 

PN118  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Mm-hm. 

PN119  
MR DIXON:  Your Honour, I need to just correct one aspect in relation to this.  
I've had a brief discussion with my friend.  It's suggested that leave was not 
sought for the late finding of Dr Pratley's evidence.  That's not correct.  There was 
a request made by a letter on the 11th of August and on the 4th of September.  I 
don't make an issue of that because I accept that we were late and the matter 
wasn't followed up, but I wanted to make – correct that we had sought leave. 

PN120  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Sure. 



PN121  
MR DIXON:  We - - - 

PN122  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Can I just ask when was the material filed? 

PN123  
MR DIXON:  Dr Pratley, on the 4th of September. 

PN124  
JUSTICE ROSS:  And when should it have been filed if it had been filed in 
accordance with the directions? 

PN125  
MR DIXON:  The 10th of August, your Honour. 

PN126  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay so it's what, about 3 or 4 weeks out? 

PN127  
MR DIXON:  Yes.  He deals with the same expert evidence that was put on the 
28th of August. 

PN128  
JUSTICE ROSS:  That doesn't really matter.  It's 3 weeks out.  The question is 
how do we rectify the prejudice. 

PN129  
MR DIXON:  Yes.  I don't have a difficulty with my friend obviously having 
time, I'm just concerned about two things, and that is that if it's too late Dr Pratley 
may need to be able to have an opportunity of considering what the response is, 
and I'm not clear about the survey evidence all being taken at the same time, as to 
whether union expert evidence dealing with that aspect, like Dr Pratley for 
example - - - 

PN130  
JUSTICE ROSS:  They deal with different surveys.  Why would that - - - 

PN131  
MR DIXON:  Well I'm not aware precisely as how it would go, to whether - - - 

PN132  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No, the survey evidence doesn't need to be dealt with it at the 
same time.  Look, the other option might be – and perhaps you can discuss this 
amongst yourselves and see if this presents a solution – but rather than Pratley 
dealt with in the retail lay evidence, provide a period of time for the SDA to file 
any material, and if they call a witness in relation to Pratley, deal with that witness 
and Pratley at the same time later in the proceedings when we have some time for 
the experts.  I know, we're not saying they're experts but deal with them then, 
otherwise you may need to – if your witness then says something that Pratley 
wants to respond to we might get caught with then having to recall him; why not 
deal with them together? 



PN133  
MR MOORE:  I have no difficulty with that course, your Honour.  My main 
concern is to ensure we have some additional time to consider the material. 

PN134  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes.  And when did you want until, bearing in mind it was 3 
weeks out of time and you've had it since the 4th of September? 

PN135  
MR DIXON:  Yes, well - - - 

PN136  
MR MOORE:  We would be seeking till the 25th of October. 

PN137  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Why would you seek that long? 

PN138  
MR MOORE:  Well that is the adjusted – as I would analyse it, the adjusted due 
date - - - 

PN139  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Except that you – it was filed 3 weeks out of time, right? 

PN140  
MR MOORE:  Yes. 

PN141  
JUSTICE ROSS:  And you've had it since the 4th of September. 

PN142  
MR MOORE:  That's right. 

PN143  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Well if I give you another 3 weeks, how is that not sufficient? 

PN144  
MR MOORE:  That would be sufficient, yes. 

PN145  
JUSTICE ROSS:  All right.  Can I encourage you to have a discussion with Mr 
Dixon around the provision of 3 weeks and also the notion that both witnesses 
would be dealt with together.  Have a look at the scheduling for the experts, and 
it's something we might re-visit next Friday when we're dealing with the expert 
evidence in the scheduling.  I don't imagine either witness is going to take very 
long.  Witness evidence around surveys really only can cover three or four topics 
– response rate, representativeness and questions, so I think both of them could 
comfortably be dealt with in a morning and may be able to be fitted in with the 
other expert program, and perhaps discuss it with Mr Izzo who is trying to 
coordinate on the employers side the experts as well, because we do have some 
availability issues for some of the other expert witnesses.  Was there anything 
else, Mr Moore? 



PN146  
MR MOORE:  Can you just clarify – you asked about Professor Altman's 
availability. 

PN147  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Yes. 

PN148  
MR MOORE:  I can confirm that he is available on the 26th and 27th of October. 

PN149  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Okay, nothing further in relation to that?  Does that mean that 
when we come back at 9.30, or close enough to it, we won't have to deal with the 
two affidavits – well the Baxter and the Pratley?  Can I put something for you to 
think about during the short 5-minute adjournment, and perhaps discuss with the 
relevant employer organisations the Pezzullo matter – I know this isn't the 
submission of the Pharmacy Guild, but it seems as if this is a report that's been 
developed by a multidisciplinary team.  On the face of it, and I say this only 
provisionally, there are at least two other members of the team, even if we were to 
accept the SDA's proposition that Ms Pezzullo doesn't have the expertise to cover 
the breadth of the report, the expertise would appear to exist in the team. 

PN150  
Now, that may mean that there at least two of them, I think the partner and there's 
another economist further down who was involved in the Queensland Penalty 
Rate Scoping Study, between the three of them they would seem to cover the 
scope.  Now, I haven't looked at scope of findings and the issues, but if that is 
right, then a solution may be all three appear and they give concurrent evidence 
and you can ask questions on any of them. 

PN151  
I appreciate that's not your submission and it's not the Pharmacy Guild's 
submission, they seem to be saying that Ms Pezzullo, by herself, has the requisite 
expertise to cover the lot.  You take issue with that but I just want you to think 
about that as a proposition because it is one that I will put to you when we come 
back because I'm interested to hear what you say about that. 

PN152  
Now, I haven't done the analysis against the findings that are sought, and I don't 
know whether the findings that you propose are being sought are the findings in 
fact that the Pharmacy Guild seeks on that report, so we need to work our way 
through that issue as well.  All right.  But if you just have a think about it, it's 
something that we can raise in the running when we come back. 

PN153  
MR MOORE:  Your Honour, I will think about that, and there has been quite a bit 
of material filed. 

PN154  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Indeed.  Do you want until 10? 



PN155  
MR MOORE:  That would be helpful. 

PN156  
JUSTICE ROSS:  Is that where this is going?  Yes. 

PN157  
MR MOORE:  Yes.  Thank you. 

PN158  
JUSTICE ROSS:  No, no.  I think - I've got a feelings some members of the 
Bench will be in a similar position.  Is there anything else?  All right.  Well, we 
will come back at 10.  I would encourage you to have discussions as well, to the 
extent that for example I think in relation to the Sands material, the suggestions 
made by the employer response that some of that might be characterised as 
submissions, that might provide a basis for a resolution with the SDA, so have a 
discussion about that issue as well and see if we can narrow the matters further 
before we come back.  All right.  Thanks very much. 

SHORT ADJOURNMENT [9.43 AM] 


